I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Harold Rath, Petitioner, asks this Com1 to accept review of the 

Court of Appeals decision identified in Part B of this Petition. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

On January 21, 2015 the Court of Appeals filed a decision 

dismissing Petitioner's claim as moot, finding that Petitioner no longer 

had a claim after the Legislature amended the statute relied upon by 

Petitioner during the pendency of this matter despite the fact that the 

amendment did not express a remedial or curative purpose or intent to be 

applied retroactively. Rath v. Grays Harbor Cnty., No. 45076-3-II, 2015 

Wash. App. LEXIS 76 (Jan. 21, 2015). A copy of the decision is provided 

in the Appendix at pages A 1-5. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the Court of Appeals decision finding Petitioner's 

claim as moot because the Legislature amended RCW 16.08.040 after 

Petitioner filed this action is in conflict with other decisions of the 

Supreme Com1 and Court of Appeals. 

2. Whether the CoU11 of Appeals should have decided 

Petitioner's appeal on the merits because Petitioner's action was not moot. 



IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual History 

On August 19, 2009, Petitioner, Harold Rath was bitten multiple 

times by Respondent, Grays Harbor County's police dog while he was in 

his friends' residence with their permission. At that time RCW 16.08.040 

imposed strict liability against all dog owners- including the County of 

Grays Harbor- when the owner's dog bit and injured an individual 

lawfully on the premises. 

On August 19, 2009, Mr. Rath was in the premises of the trailer 

with the owner's permission and that permission was never revoked. See 

CP 423-25 (Dixon Decl.); 426-27 (Ver Valen Decl.). Mr. Rath was 

wanted by law enforcement for an incident that occuned sometime prior 

to August 19,2009. CP 292 (Rath Dep. 14:3-10); VRP 37,38 (Direct 

Exam of Harold Rath). Mr. Rath did not know there was an AtTest 

Wan-ant out for his arrest. CP 292 (Rath Dep. 17: 23-25); VRP 37 (Direct 

Exam of Harold Rath). Law enforcement received information that Mr. 

Rath was at a trailer park on the Hoquiam River. VRP 83 (Second Direct 

Exam ofDep. Crawford). Ultimately the officers made their way to the 

trailer in which Mr. Rath was present. CP 242-43 (Crawford Dep.15: 15-

21; 17:7-14); VRP 83. 

Officers, including Deputy Crawford and his police dog, entered 

the trailer where Mr. Rath was sleeping. CP 242 (Crawford Dep. 23: 20); 

VRP 95 (Second Direct Exam of Dep. Crawford). Deputy Crawford knew 

from experience that trailers often had a storage area underneath the bed 
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and thought Mr. Rath was in that area. CP 245 (Crawford Dep. 25: 7-11); 

VRP 1 01. Deputy Crawford lifted up the bed to reveal the storage area. 

CP 245 (Crawford Dep. 25: 7-11); VRP 10, 11, 18 (Direct Exam of 

Crawford). Mr. Rath was lying on his stomach, was not making any 

movements and was non-responsive. CP 246 (Crawford Dep. p. 29: 3, 19-

21; 30: 2-5); VPR 11, 12. Deputy Crawford deployed Gizmo to bite Mr. 

Rath. CP 246 (Crawford Dep. 30:8-13); VRP 6 (Direct Exam ofDep. 

Crawford). Mr. Rath recalls Gizmo biting him first on the wrist, then on 

his arm, and then on his shoulder. CP 295-296 (Rath Dep. 29:7-8, 19-22; 

30:1-14); VRP 39-42 (Direct Exam ofHarold Rath). Mr. Rath attempted 

to protect his face, but his a1ms were grabbed by the officers, allowing 

Gizmo to begin biting his head. /d. 

B. Procedural History 

Mr. Rath filed a lawsuit against Grays Harbor County pursuant to 

Washington's strict liability dog bite statute, which provided: "The owner 

of any dog which shall bite a person while such person is lawfully in a 

private place shall be liable for such damages as may be suffered by the 

person bitten." RCW 16.08.040. 

Both parties moved for summary judgment on the issue of whether 

the strict liability dog bite statute applied to this case. After oral argument 

on January 25, 2013 the trial court properly held that the dog bite statute 

was applicable to this case, and that as a matter of law Mr. Rath did not 

provoke the dog to bite him under RCW 16.08.060, but reserved ruling on 

liability as to whether Mr. Rath was 'lawfully on' the premises when he 
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was bitten. The com1 informed the parties that it would hold a bifurcated 

trial proceeding to first determine whether Plaintiff was lawfully on the 

premises, and if so, then proceed to a determination of damages. 

The case proceeded to a bifurcated trial on June 3 & 4, 2013 to 

first determine whether Plaintiff was lawfully on the premises, and if so, 

would then proceed to a dete1mination of damages. After the parties 

rested, the trial court gave the jury the following instruction, among 

others: INSTRUCTION NO. 10: "A person remains unlawfully in a 

private place when he or she purposefully refuses to leave a premises or 

submit to arrest when given a lawful order to do so." CP 490-92 (Com1's 

Instructions to the Jury). 

The trial court did not provide authority from which it based its 

jury instruction number 1 0 and its language was inconsistent with WPIC 

65.02 that defines lawful presence. Plaintiff objected to jury instruction 

number 10 being given to the jury as being contrary to Washington law on 

the definition of"lawfully on the premises." VRP 121, 122. The jury 

returned a verdict fmding that Mr. Rath was bitten by the police dog, but 

that he was not lawfully in the trailer when he was bitten. Plaintiff 

requests that this court reject instruction No. 10 and direct a verdict on 

liability in favor of Plaintiff since it is undisputed that he was bitten by 

Defendant's dog on premises where he had permission from the owners to 

be. 
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Mr. Rath sought appeal seeking to (1) reverse the trial court's 

denial of summary judgment on the issue of strict liability; (2) find that the 

trial comi's jury instruction number 10 misstated the law on the issue of 

being lawfully in a ptivate residence; and, (3) direct a verdict on the issue 

of liability in favor of Plaintiff. 

The Comi of Appeals filed a decision on January 21, 2015 finding 

that Mr. Rath was divested of his cause of action when the Legislature 

added an affirmative defense of "the lawful application of a police dog" to 

the statutory strict liability statute; therefore his claim was moot and 

dismissed the action. Rath, supra, Appendix at pages A4-5. The Court of 

Appeals did not reach any ofthe substantive issues of Mr. Rath's appeal. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

This Court may accept review of a Court of Appeals decision if it 

involves a decision that is in conflict with other decisions of the Supreme 

Comi or Court of Appeals, or is an issue of substantial public interest. 

RAP 13.4(b)(l-2, 4). The Court of Appeals' finding that Mr. Rath's claim 

is moot and failure to make an analysis of the amended statute's 

retroactivity is in conflict with other decisions of this Comi and the Court 

of Appeals which hold that legislative enactments are presumptively 

applied prospectively. The Court of Appeals' decision also creates 

tremendous unce11ainty regarding the prospective or retroactive 

application of future statutory amendments, which is a substantial issue of 
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public interest. If Division II's analysis is allowed to stand, the Legislature 

and public's reliance on the longstanding rule of prospective application of 

statutory amendments will be misplaced and the ultimate intent of the 

Legislature and reliance by the public will be misplaced. 

A. This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals 
reliance on Hansen v. West Coast Wholesale Drug Co. to find 
Petitioner's claim moot was in conflict with other published 
Washington appellate decisions. 

The Comi of Appeals found Mr. Rath's claim was automatically 

abolished by the Legislature upon the 2012 amendment of 

RCW 16.08.040 that provided government defendants a new potential 

affirmative defense. See Laws of2012, ch. 94, § 1. In finding Mr. Rath's 

claim as moot the Court of Appeals relied extensively on Hansen v. West 

Coast Wholesale Drug Co., 47 Wn.2d 825, 289 P.2d 718 (1955). In 

Hansen, the Court addressed a dramshop act. While the case was pending 

on appeal the Legislature repealed the entire act. ld. at 826. The Court 

went on to find that "[w]here a tort action can be brought only by virtue of 

a statute, there can be no vested right therein, and the Legislature may take 

away the right at any time." !d. at 827 (quoting Robinson v. McHugh, 158 

Wash. 157, 164, 291 P. 330 (1930)). In essence, the Hansen couti implied 

that the repeal of the entire statutory cause of action meant that the 

Legislature intended retroactive application. In Rath, the relevant statute 

was not repealed, only amended with the addition of an affirmative 

defense. RCW 16.08.040. The Couti of Appeals in Rath extended its 

reasoning beyond whether the Legislature had the right to divest Mr. 
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Rath's statutory cause of action and whether it intended to do so and ruled 

that, contrary to established Washington law, the amended statute divested 

all his rights retroactively instead of prospectively as a matter of law 

without any evidence of the Legislature's intent to do so. Rath, supra, 

Appendix at page A-5. 

In the present matter the Court of Appeals relied upon the above 

quoted language to fmd that Mr. Rath's claim derived solely from the 

statute. However, the Court of Appeals' reliance upon Hansen is 

erroneous, as Hansen addressed the repealing of an entire statute, not the 

amending of a statute, as is the case ofRCW 16.08.040. The amendment 

to RCW 16.08.040 added the following section: "This section does not 

apply to the lawful application of a police dog, as defined in 

RCW 4.24.410." Laws of2012, ch. 94, § 1. This amendment did not 

reinstate sovereign immunity for the county; nor did it absolutely repeal 

the county's liability for dog bites. The amendment simply changed the 

manner in which future victims of police dog bites may seek relief by 

adding a potential new affirmative defense. This distinction is significant 

in the application of the now amended, not repealed statute, to the case at 

hand. 

The weight of cases in Washington provide that statutory 

amendments apply prospectively unless intended otherwise, thus the Comt 

of Appeals should have engaged in an analysis to determine if the 

Legislature intended the statute to apply retroactively. Magula v. Benton 
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FrankUn Title Co., 131 Wn.2d 171,930 P.2d 307 (1997) (definition of 

"marital status" is amended after an alleged unlawful termination under 

the Washington Law Against Discrimination, this Court did not apply the 

legislative definition that existed at the time the decision was issued, but 

rather engaged in a retroactivity analysis and found no intent to apply the 

new definition retroactively); Ballard Square Condo. Owners Assoc. v. 

Dynasty Constr. Co., 158 Wn.2d 603,617-19, 146 P.3d 914 (2006) 

(applying a retroactive intent analysis to an amended statute of limitations 

for bringing actions against dissolved corporations); 1000 Virginia Ltd v. 

Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 584-88, 146 P.3d 423 (2006) (applying a 

retroactive intent analysis to a new statute that "prevents application of the 

discovery rule of accrual in the case of written construction contracts"); 

see also A.MM v. Dept. of Soc. & Health Srvcs., 182 Wn. App. 776, 786-

91, 332 P.3d 500 (2014) (finding that the trial court should have 

retroactively applied the amended statute in a matter te1minating the 

parental rights of an incarcerated person where the triggering event is the 

removal of the parental rights). 

Division II specifically contradicted the rule set down in Magula, 

that even if a legislative amendment narrowed the application of a 

statutory right in a manner that would defeat a claim in the future, the 

amendment would not be applied to defeat the pending claim without 

satisfying one of the exceptions requiring retroactive application-

expressed intent or remedial or curative purpose. Magula, supra. The 
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plaintiff in Magula sued her employer under a statutory marital 

discrimination claim when she was terminated due to her spouse's 

misconduct. 131 Wn.2d at 178, 930 P .2d at 311. At the time of her 

te1mination, the interpretation of statutory marital discrimination 

contemplated and prohibited this type of termination. !d. While her case 

was pending, the Legislature amended the statutory definition of marital 

discrimination by narrowing it to not include te1mination due to spousal 

misconduct. 131 Wn.2d at 181, 930 P .2d at 313. The Supreme Court in 

Magula held that her claim could have been precluded by the narrower 

statutory definition but ruled that her claim survived because the 

amendment to the statute was presumed to apply prospectively only unless 

one of the exceptions to that rule was proven -- intent, curative or 

remedial. 131 Wn.2d at 181-182,930 P.2d at 313. Mr. Rath's case and 

the statutory amendment to RCW16.08.040 are no different and his claims 

are likewise preserved as a matter of law. 

B. This Court should accept review to determine if the 
amendment to RCW 16.08.040 should be applied 
prospectively and to clarify the proper analysis for an 
amended statute. 

In order to analyze an amendment's prospective or retroactive 

effect the Court should first determine the statute's triggering event. In re 

Estate of Haviland, 177 Wn.2d 68, 77,301 P.3d 31 (2013). Ifthe 

triggering event falls before the statute's effective date then the Court 

should move to the retroactive analysis to determine if any of the three 

exceptions to the prospective application presumption are present: 
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(1) legislative intent, (2) "clearly curative" in nature, or (3) remedial in 

nature. In re F.D. Processing, Inc., 119 Wn.2d 452,460, 832 P.2d 1303 

(1992) (citations omitted). In Mr. Rath's case, the Court of Appeals did 

not engage in the retroactive analysis. 

1. Triggering event 

In order to determine the proper application of a statutory 

amendment one must first dete1mine if the relevant amendment is 

operating in a prospective or retrospective manner in relation to the case at 

hand. See Matter of Estate of Burns, 131 Wn.2d 104, 123,928 P.2d 1094 

(1997). In short, one must determine what triggers the statute, where "the 

proper triggering event is that which the statute intends to regulate." 

Haviland, 177 Wn.2d at 77, 301 P.3d 31. "A statute operates 

prospectively when the precipitating event for [its] application ... occurs 

after the effective date of the statute, even though the precipitating event 

had its origin in a situation existing prior to the enactment of the statute." 

State v. Belgarde, 119 Wn.2d 711,722, 837 P.2d 599 (1992) (quoting 

Aetna Life Ins. Co. v. Washington Life & Disab. Ins. Guar. Ass'n, 83 

Wn.2d 523, 535, 520 P.2d 162 (1974)). 

The proper triggering event for application ofRCW 16.08.040(1) 

is the accrual of the action, the dog bite. At the time that Mr. Rath was 

bitten the statute provided that: 

The owner of any dog which shall bite any person while 
such person is in or on a public place or lawfully in or on a 
private place including the property ofthe owner of such 

10 



dog, shall be liable for such damages as may be suffered by 
the person bitten. 

RCW 16.08.040. Clearly the triggering event in the statute is the dog bite. 

One could argue that the triggering event is the initial filing of the action 

based on the application of strict liability in the causes of action in the 

complaint. However, in the present action the amendment to RCW 

16.08.040 did not come into effect until June 7, 2012 (Laws of2012, ch. 

94, § 1). Rath, supra, Appendix at page A4. Therefore, either triggering 

date for the statute would be before the amendment took effect. 

Consequently, the Court should now look to determine ifthere is any basis 

for the amendment to RCW 16.08.040 to apply retrospectively. 

2. Retrospective analysis 

It is well settled that "generally, an amendment applies 

prospectively only." 131 Wn.2d at 171, 181, 930 P .2d 307 (citing In re 

F.D. Processing, Inc., 119 Wn.2d 452, 832 P.2d 1303 (1992); Landgrafv. 

US! Film, 511 U.S. 244, 114 S.Ct. 1483, 128 L.Ed.2d 229 (1994)). 

However, in three circumstances an amendment can be applied 

retroactively: "(1)[when] the legislature so intended; (2) it is 'curative'; or 

(3) it is remedial, provided, however, such retroactive application does not 

run afoul of any constitutional prohibition." McGee Guest Home, Inc. v. 

Dep'tofSoc. &HealthServs., 142 Wn.2d316,324, 12P.3d 144(2000) 

(quoting State v. Cruz, 139 Wn.2d 186, 191,985 P.2d 384 (1999) (citing 

F.D. Processing, 119 Wn.2d at 460, 832 P.2d 1303). 
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First, to determine legislative intent one must initially look to the 

express language of the statute, then if necessary one can look to the 

legislative history in order to dete1mine the Legislature's intent. F. D. 

Processing, 119 Wn.2d at 460, 832 P.2d 1303. However, where a statute 

does not expressly provide for retroactive effect, "generally it should not 

be judicially implied." Meibach v. Colasurdo, 102 Wn.2d 170, 180, 685 

P.2d 1074 (1984) (citing Everett v. State, 99 Wn.2d 264, 270, 661 P.2d 

588 (1983)). 

RCW 16.08.040 does not expressly provide for any retroactive 

effect. The bill simply provides an effective date of June 7, 2012. Laws 

of2012, ch. 94, § 1. Looking to the legislative history does not provide 

significant assistance. The amendment to RCW 16.08.040 was included 

with a bill amending other laws providing for civil penalties on persons 

who harm police dogs. Laws of2012, ch. 94, § 2. Further, the Final Bill 

Report is completely silent as to any retroactive effect of the amendments. 

See Final Bill Report, 2012 Wash. Legis. Serv. ch. 94 (S.H.B. 2191), 

Appendix at pages A6-7. 

Where the legislative intent cannot be determined the Court should 

then look to dete1mine if the statute is "clearly curative." F.D. Processing, 

119 Wn.2d at 460, 832 P.2d 1303. "An amendment is curative if it 

clarifies or technically corrects an ambiguous, older statute, without 

changing prior case law." Magztla, 131 Wn.2d at 171, 182,930 P.2d 307 

(citing FD. Processing, 119 Wn.2d at 461, 832 P.2d 1303; Washington 
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Waste Sys., Inc. v. Clark Cnty., 115 Wn.2d 74, 78, 794 P.2d 508 (1990)). 

In order for a statute to be curative an ambiguity must exist. A statute is 

ambiguous when the law "can be reasonably interpreted in more than one 

way." McGee, 142 Wn.2d at 316, 325, 12 P.3d 144 (quoting Vashon 

Island Comm. for Self-Gov't v. Wash. State Bound my Review Bd., 127 

Wn.2d 759, 771, 903 P.2d 953 (1995)). However, when "ambiguity is 

lacking in statutory language, this court presumes an amendment to the 

statute constitutes a substantive change in the law, and the amendment 

presumptively is not retroactively applied." F. D. Processing, 119 Wn.2d 

at 462, 832 P.2d 1303. 

RCW 16.08.040 is not ambiguous and the Legislature's 

amendment is not clearly curative. RCW 16.08.040 was originally passed 

in 1941 and remained unchanged until the recent amendment in 2012. See 

Laws of 1941, ch. 77, § 1; Appendix at page A8; Laws of2012, ch. 94, 

§ 1. In over 70 years of existence the statute has not demonstrated more 

than one reasonable interpretation. See Beeler v. Hickman, 50 Wn. App. 

746, 752, 750 P .2d 1282 (1988)) (finding that only one previous case had 

addressed the meaning of owner); Shafer v. Beyers, 26 Wn. App. 442, 446, 

613 P.2d 554 (1980). See also Peterson v. City of Federal Way, et al, 2007 

WL 2110336 at *3 (W.D. Wash. July 18, 2007) (not reported) (citing 

Rogers v. City of Kenne·wick, et al, 2007 WL 2055038 at *7 (E.D. Wash. 

July 13, 2007) (not reported), affd; Rogers v. City of Kennewick, et al., 
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2008 WL 5383156 (9th Cir. Dec. 23, 2008) (not selected for publication). 

If a statute is not ambiguous, then an amendment cannot be curative. 

When an amendment is found not to be curative, the Comt should 

then look to determine if the amendment is remedial. F.D. Processing, 

119 Wn.2d at 460, 832 P.2d 1303. "A statute is remedial when it relates to 

practice, procedure, or remedies." Miebach v. Colasurdo, 102 Wn.2d 170, 

181, 685 P.2d 1074 (1984). A remedial statute "afford[s] a remedy, or 

better[s] or forward[s] remedies already existing for the enforcement of 

rights and the redress of injuries. Haddenham v. State, 87 Wn.2d 145, 

148, 550 P.2d 9 (1976) (citing 3 Sutherland, Statutmy Construction 

§ 60.02 (4th rev. ed. 1974)). 

RCW 16.08.040 is not remedial in nature because it does not relate 

to a practice, procedure, or remedy. The amendment to RCW 16.08.040 

simply allows an additional affnmative defense against future victims of 

lawfully applied police dog bites from under the strict liability statute. 

The relevant amendment in this case went into effect after Mr. 

Rath's claim accrued and after he filed suit. Because, there is no basis to 

infer any legislative intent, curative effect or remedial purpose, the Comt 

of Appeals should not have infetTed retroactive application contrary to the 

presumption of prospective application. Magula, supra. Unlike Hansen 

where an entire statutory cause of action was repealed, the 2012 

amendment to RCW 16.08.040 did not repeal the cause of action; it only 

added a potential affirmative defense, which should only be applied 
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prospectively. Hansen, supra. The Rath Court of Appeals' decision was 

clearly in enor and contrary to the weight of Washington appellate law 

interpreting retrospective application of statutory amendments and thus 

must be reversed in order to avoid upsetting the longstanding reliance by 

the Legislature and the public on prospective application of statutory 

amendments absent intent to the contrary. 

C. This Court should accept review to determine if the Court of 
Appeals should have addressed Petitioner's appeal on the 
merits 

If this Com1 finds that the Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to 

published opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals and thus should 

have determined ifthe amendment to RCW 16.08.040 applies 

prospectively or retroactively, instead of dismissing the claim as moot, 

then this Court should also find that the Court of Appeals should have 

ruled on the merits of Petitioner's claim. The Petitioner sought review of 

the trial court's summary judgment ruling regarding strict liability and jury 

instruction regarding the well established law sm1·ounding lawful presence 

on private property as more fully set out in Mr. Rath's appeal below. 

The statutory scheme of the strict liability dog bite statute defines 

what it means to be lawfully upon private property in RCW 16.08.050, 

which states: 

A person is lawfully upon the private 
property of such owner within the meaning 
of RCW 16.08.040 when such person is 
upon the property of the owner with the 
express or implied consent of the owner: 
PROVIDED, That said consent shall not be 
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presumed when the property of the owner is 
fenced or reasonably posted. 

The defmition of lawful presence in Chapter RCW 16.08 is focused on the 

permission to be on the property, whether express or implied. Sligar v. 

Odell, 156 Wn.App. 720, 728-29, 233 P.3d 914 (2010). It is undisputed 

that Mr. Rath had pennission from the private property owners to enter 

and remain on their property at the time he was bitten by Respondent's 

dog. 

The trial comi gave the following jury instruction, among others:

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