RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Mar 18, 2015, 9:32 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 91323-4

RECEIVED E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HAROLD RATH,

Petitioner,

v.

GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

Respondent.

RESPONDENT GRAYS HARBOR'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

John E. Justice, WSBA #23042 Law, Lyman, Daniel, Kamerrer, & Bogdanovich, P.S. 2674 RW Johnson Blvd SW Tumwater, WA 98512 Tel: (360) 754-3480, Fax: (360) 357-3511 Email: jjustice@lldkb.com



Tabl	le of Co			
I.	IDEN	NTITY OF RESPONDENT1		
II.		NTER-STATEMENT ISSUE PRESENTED FOR1		
III.	STA	TEMENT OF THE CASE1		
	A.	Factual Background1		
	B.	Procedural Background6		
IV.	ARGUMENT9

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

IV. ARGUMENT

This Court should deny review of the unpublished Court of

Appeals decision. It does not conflict with a decision of this Court or any

Court of Appeals' decision. It also does not involve an issue of substantial

public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1),

(2) & (4).

A. The Decision of the Court of Appeals is not in Conflict with a decision of this Court or a decision of the Court of Appeals.

In Hansen, supra, 47 Wn. 2d at 826, the appellant sued under the

Dramshop Act. The trial court dismissed the suit on a motion on the

pleadings. *Id.* While the appeal was pending, the Dramshop Act was repealed. *Id.* The Supreme Court reasoned that because the appellant's cause of action only arose by virtue of the Dramshop Act and had not been reduced to a final judgment before the Act was repealed, the appellant had been "divested of her right of action by the legislature". *Id.* at 827. Therefore, the court dismissed her appeal as moot. *Id.* at 827–28.

Hansen is still good law and clearly supports the Court of Appeals decision in this case. Plaintiff, however, argues that because *Hansen* involved the elimination of a cause of action by *repeal* of a statute, rather than by an amendment, the Court of Appeals was required to undertake a retroactivity analysis. However, *Hansen* does not make that point, and petitioner cites no other case that does. In this case, the petitioner relied exclusively on a cause of action for statutory strict liability under RCW 16.08.040. It is undisputed that, after the amendment, plaintiff no longer had a cause of action for strict liability under the statute. Thus, while the entire statute was not repealed, the amendment to that statute eliminated plaintiff of a cause of action before it vested. He does not argue to the contrary.

Plaintiff's petition confuses the use of court created rules to aid

construction of a statute, with a *legal* principle regarding whether or not a purely statutory cause of action has been eliminated before a right in that cause of action has vested. In *Johnson v. Continental West, Inc.*, 99 Wn.2d 555, 559-60, 663 P.2d 482 (1983), the Court explained that "rules of statutory construction . . . are not statements of law. Rather they are rules in aid of construing legislation and an aid in the process of determining legislative intent." Significantly, the statement of law in *Hansen*, that a statutory cause of action can be eliminated by the legislature before it vests, has not been held to require the retroactivity analysis espoused by plaintiff.

In fact, in *Johnson, supra*, that analysis yielded "conflicting results." Still the Court retroactively applied a statutory amendment to the Tort Reform Act, relying on *Hansen* to note that "no one can be said to have had a vested right until the cases were finally resolved on appeal and a final judgment entered." *See, also, Ballard Square Condominium Owners Ass 'n v. Dynasty Const. Co.*, 158 Wn.2d 603, 617-18, 146 P.3d 914 (2006) (" Just as the legislature can divest a plaintiff of a statutory claim after suit is filed, it follows that it can shorten the time period for bringing a statutory claim and so terminate a plaintiff's action without impairing any vested right.").

.

Petitioner argues that the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with *Magula v. Benton Franklin Title Co.*, 131 Wn.2d 171, 181-82, 930 P.2d 307 (1997) and other cases analyzing the retroactive application of a statute. No such conflict exists.

In *Magula*, the Court discussed whether a statutory amendment to the definition of "marital status" should be applied to the case before it. The parties did not argue that the amendment eliminated plaintiff's cause of action and that issue was never discussed. The Court was thus not considering a legislative enactment that divested a person of a statutory cause of action *before it vested*. *Hanson* is not even cited.

In *Ballard Square, supra*, 158 Wn.2d at 603, the Court analyzed whether a newly enacted statute of limitations should be applied to a pending statutory cause of action. The case did not involve *elimination* of a statutory cause of action, only the application of a new statute of limitations. Significantly, the Court noted that "a cause of action that exists only by virtue of a statute is not a vested right, and it can be retroactively abolished by the legislature." *Id.* at 617. While the Court discussed rules of statutory construction, it did not hold that such rules

must be applied invariably to statutory amendments that *eliminate* a purely statutory cause of action.

In 1000 Virginia Ltd. v. Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 585, 146 P.3d 423 (2006), the Court considered whether a statute that "prevents application of the discovery rule of accrual in the case of written construction contracts" should apply retroactively. The statutory enactment in question did not eliminate a statutory cause of action sounding in tort. In fact, as the Court noted, "even if there is a vested right in the running of a statute of limitations, this right would not be at issue when a rule defining the time of accrual is at issue, rather than a change in the statute of limitations." *Id.* at 577-78.

Finally, in *A.M.M. v. Dept. of Soc. & Health Srvsc.*, 182 Wn. App. 776, 332 P.3d 500 (2014), the Court was not dealing with the elimination of a statutory cause of action. Instead, the trial court failed to apply a statutory amendment that added factors that needed to be considered before terminating a parent's rights even though the amendments became effective shortly before the trial. The Court held that "'a court is to apply the law in effect at the time it renders its decision, unless doing so would result in manifest injustice or there is statutory direction or legislative history to the contrary." Id. at 789, quoting, Marine Power & Equip. Co.
v. Wash. State Human Rights Comm'n Hearing Tribunal, 39 Wash.App.
609, 621, 694 P.2d 697 (1985). AAM does not involve a statutory cause of action that was eliminated before.

Unlike *Magula*, and the other cases cited by Mr. Rath, the Court of Appeals in this case was not just analyzing whether a statutory amendment should be applied retroactively. The legislative enactment in this case did not "narrow" petitioner's cause of action or change a statute of limitations. Instead, the legislature *eliminated* Mr. Rath's cause of action. Plaintiff was bitten during the lawful application of a police canine. He does not claim otherwise. Thus, he is not able to proceed under RCW 16.08.040, the only cause of action he asserted. There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals decision in this case and *Magula*.

Even if the "retroactivity analysis" urged by Mr. Rath were required, however, the outcome of this case would not change.

B. The Legislature's 2012 Amendment is Remedial and Curative.

Statutes that are remedial in nature may apply retroactively if such application furthers its remedial purpose. *Macumber v. Shafer*, 96 Wash.2d 568, 570, 637 P.2d 645 (1981). "A statute is remedial when it relates to practice, procedure, or remedies and does not affect a substantive or vested right." *Miebach v. Colasurdo*, 102 Wash.2d 170, 181, 685 P.2d 1074 (1984). A curative amendment is one that clarifies or technically corrects an ambiguous statute and can also be applied retroactively. *Washington State Farm Bureau Fed'n v. Gregoire*, 162 Wn.2d 284, 303, 174 P.3d 1142 (2007). This is true even if the legislature did not expressly state the amendment applies retroactively. *Johnson v. Continental West*, 99 Wn. 2d 555, 559, 663 P.2d 482 (1983).

RCW 16.08.040(2) is remedial because it relates to remedies, i.e. a strict liability cause of action for dog bites. It is undisputed that it does not affect a vested right.

RCW 16.08.040(2) is also curative because it clarifies the application of a statute that was, prior to the amendment, ambiguous as police dogs. The statute does not define "owner" to specifically include the government.¹ *Beeler v. Hickman, supra*, 50 Wn. App. at 751. A statute is ambiguous when it is susceptible to two or more reasonable

RCW 16.08.070 includes a definition of "owner" which does not specifically include municipalities. Further, while the plaintiff argues the definition found in RCW 16.08.070 applies to RCW 16.08.040, it only states that its definitions apply to RCW 16.08.070 and RCW 16.08.100. It is therefore not clear that the definition of "owner" in RCW 16.08.070 applies to RCW 16.08.040.

interpretations. *State v. Gonzalez*, 168 Wn.2d 256, 263, 226 P.3d 131 (2010). It is certainly reasonable to interpret the statute as not applying to police dogs given that state law expressly permits their use in this situation. (*See next section*).

In order to be applied retroactively, it is also necessary that the amendment "contravenes no construction placed on the original statute" *State v. Jones*, 110 Wn. 2d 74, 82, 750 P.2d 620 (1988). While there are a few unreported federal cases cited by Mr. Rath that have construed RCW 16.08.040² to apply to a *bystander* and non-intended target, he has cited no state appellate cases applying RCW 16.08.040 to a police dog. The unreported federal district court cases are not binding on this court. *Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. Of Washington*, 166 Wn. 2d 27, 47, 204 P.3d 885 (2009). The only *reported* federal decision that applied the statute to an arrestee is *Miller v. Clark County*, 340 F.3d 959 (9th Cir. 2003). In

See Smith v. City of Auburn, et al., No. 04-cv-1829-RSM, 2006 WL 1419376, (W.D.Wash. May 19, 2006) (applying RCW § 16.08.040 to police dog bite of a man who claimed he was innocent of any crime); Rogers v. City of Kennewick, et al., No. 04-cv-5028-EFS, 2007 WL 2055038 (E.D.Wash. July 13, 2007) (applying RCW § 16.08.040 to man mistakenly bitten by police dog); Terrian v. Pierce County, 2008 WL 2019815 (W.D.Wash., 2008) (finding statute did not apply to reasonable use of police dog); Peterson v. City of Federal Way, 2007 WL 2110336 (W.D.Wash., 2007) (person mistakenly bitten by police dog may pursue strict liability).

Miller, the 9th Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the district court's summary judgment that RCW 16.08.040 **did not** apply when, "the officers ordering the dog to bite was reasonable under the United States Constitution's Fourth Amendment." *Id.* at n. 14. *Miller, supra*, which was issued prior to the 2012 amendment.

C. Applying RCW 16.08.040 to this case produces an absurd result.

State law specifically contemplates the use of police dogs to apprehend suspects. RCW 4.24.410. Further, state law allows a police officer to "use all necessary means to effect" an arrest if the arrestee should "either flee or forcibly resist." RCW 10.31.050. *See also*, RCW 9A.16.020(1) (use of force lawful "[w]henever necessarily used by a public officer in the performance of a legal duty . . .") and RCW 9A.16.020(2) (use of force lawful when "necessarily used by a person arresting one who has committed a felony . . .") If State law specifically allows the use of police dogs to apprehend suspects it would be absurd to subject the government agency that owns the police dog to *strict liability* at the same time. "When interpreting a statute, [courts] must avoid unlikely, absurd, or strained results." *In re Det. of Coppin*, 157 Wn. App. 537, 552, 238 P.3d 1192 (2010). Legislative history also suggests that such a result was not contemplated by the legislature. CP 75. (1989 legislative testimony on police dog handler immunity statute indicating that police dog's *owner* (the County in this case) might be liable for *negligence* to *innocent bystander* injured by a police dog.)

D. Applying RCW 16.08.040 to this case results in a conflict with specific statutes permitting the use of force to make an arrest.

If RCW 16.08.040 applies to police dogs in this case, then it also creates a conflict with RCW 10.31.050, and RCW 9A.16.020(1) and (2). That is because RCW 10.31.050 and RCW 9A.16.020 (1) and (2) permit law enforcement officers to utilize force when making an arrest. When "statutes conflict, specific statutes control over general ones." *Mason v. Georgia-Pacific Corp.*, 166 Wn. App. 859, 869, 271 P.3d 381 (2012), *citing Hallauer v. Spectrum Props.*, Inc., 143 Wn.2d 126, 146–47, 18 P.3d 540 (2001). RCW 16.08.040 is a statute of general application. RCW 10.31.050 and RCW 9A.16.020(1) and (2) are specific statutes that apply to the use of force to effect an arrest. In this case, specific statutes make the use of Gizmo lawful. The conflicting general statute which, if applied, creates strict liability for damages for the lawful use of force should be

held inapplicable due to the conflict.

In sum, the use of Gizmo to assist in arresting Mr. Rath was constitutionally reasonable and permitted by state law. Applying the strict liability statute to police dogs being lawfully utilized to arrest a dangerous subject, would lead to the absurd result that government is strictly liable for damages for the use of force that is expressly permitted by state law and allowed by the U.S. Constitution. It would also conflict with specific statutes that permit that level of force. The conflict, and its absurd result are avoided by interpreting the statute as the Court in *Miller* did, i.e. it does not apply to the reasonable application of a police dog to apprehend the intended suspect.

E. This Case Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court.

Mr. Rath does not address this basis for review in his petition. However, this case involves an unpublished decision, which cannot be cited as authority. GR 14.1. It also involves a situation which will not be repeated now that individuals bitten during the lawful application of a police canine cannot state a claim for strict liability under the statute.

In short, no other state court decision (reported or unreported) has

addressed claims similar to Mr. Rath's. The decision by the Court of Appeals is important to Grays Harbor County and Mr. Rath. However, it is hard to see how it would be of significance to any other member of the public and Mr. Rath makes no convincing argument to the contrary.

V. CONCLUSION

.

Grays Harbor County respectfully requests that Mr. Rath's petition for review be denied.